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STATEMENT REGARDING OF ORAL ARGUMENT 
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STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER AND JURISDICTION
The District Court for the Northern District of Texas has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims in this matter pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1983.
The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. *1291. This is an appeal from a final decision of the District Court that disposes of all claims with respect to all parties as memorialized in its Order Granting Defendants* Motion for Summary Judgment ("order"). (R 417)1 The District Court*s order was entered on February 21, 2002. Jon Beeler filed his Notice of Appeal in this matter on March 19, 2002 (R 418-419), and thus, the Notice of Appeal is timely pursuant to Rule 4(a) (1) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
ISSUE ONE: Whether the trial court erred in ruling that "an illegitimate animus or ill-will" must be proven in order to sustain a cause of action for a violation of the equal protection clause if plaintiff has been intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated and no rational basis existed for such treatment.
ISSUE TWO: Whether the trial court erred in holding that defendants* actions were not motivated by "an illegitimate animus or ill-will."
ISSUE THREE: Whether the trial court erred in holding that Jon Beeler ("Appellant") and his neighbor were not "similarly situated."
ISSUE FOUR: Whether the trial court erred in holding that there was no unconstitutional policy or custom in the City of Terrell as required under 42 U.S.C. *1983;
ISSUE FIVE: Whether the trial court erred in holding that the actions of Mary Gayle Ramsey ("Ramsey") and Rounsavall ("Rounsavall") did not warrant the imposition of punitive damages.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
This case involves the City of Terrell and two city officials, Ramsey and Rounsavall (collectively referred to as "Appellees"), and the owner of a convenience store located at 305 Ninth Street, Terrell, Texas, Appellant, concerning the violation of the constitutional rights of the Appellant by the Appellees. Appellant had operated a convenience store in Terrell, Texas, and sold a variety of food and beverages at this store, including beer and wine and related items, for many years at 307 Ninth Street ("Location A"). Appellant intended to move his business and purchased the property at 305 Ninth Street ("Location B"), which is next door to Location A, in reliance upon representations made by the City that he would obtain a license to sell beer and wine at the site ("Location B").
After initially approving his application to obtain a license to sell beer and wine at Location B, Appellees took action to prevent Appellant from obtaining the permit as a result of complaints made by the owner of Location A. 
Appellees protested Appellant*s application despite having no basis to do so and then approved the application of the new tenant at Location A to receive a permit. The Appellees* conduct in doing so was "irrational and wholly arbitrary." The City ultimately withdrew its protest after determining that it should not have protested initially.   
By refusing to certify Appellant*s application and protesting the grant of his license, Appellees made it impossible for Appellant to obtain a license and sell beer and wine. As a result of the conduct of Appellees, Appellant was forced to sell the store and suffered damages.
Proceedings Below
On November 6, 2000, Appellant filed an Original Complaint against Appellees (R 1-13). On May 2, 2001, Appellee filed his First Amended Original Complaint (R 103-123) and, on June 11, 2001, filed his Second Amended Original Complaint (R 124-144). On June 14, 2001, Appellees* filed their Original Answer (R 145-149). In November 2001, Appellees* filed their Motion for Summary Judgment (R 208-222), brief in support of same (R 223-248) and supporting evidence (R 249). On December 7, 2001, Appellant filed his Response to the Motion for Summary Judgment (R 250-270), brief in support (R 271-296) and supporting evidence (R 297). On February 11, 2002, a hearing was had before the Honorable Barbara M.G. Lynn of the United States District Court, Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division (TR). On February 21, 2002, the District Court entered an Order Granting Defendants* Motion for Summary Judgment (R 417).
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
From 1990 until approximately March 15, 2000, Appellant rented real property located at 307 Ninth Street, Terrell, Texas, ("Location A") from Grady Lawson ("Lawson") and operated a convenience store known as Handy Mart at Location A. Appellant sold a variety of food and beverages at the site, including beer and wine and related items, and held a valid Wine and Beer Retailer*s Off-Premises Permit. R 250; R 249/57 (JB Depo 11:13-17), 59 (JB Depo 19:2-13), 153 (GL Depo 10:21-25), 155 (GL Depo 20:21-23), 164 (GL Depo 54:608); R 297/1 (JB Aff * 2).
In December 1999, Appellant decided to relocate Handy Mart from Location A to 305 Ninth Street, Terrell, Texas ("Location B"). R 249/62 ((JB Depo 32:11-23), 63 (JB Depo 33:1-6, 33:16-23), and 35:19 through 36:25); R 251; R 297/4.
On January 11, 2000, Appellant applied for a Wine and Beer Retailer*s Off-Premise Permit (hereinafter referred to as "permit") for Location B from the City, the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Commission and Kaufman County. R 297/8-18. Appellant complied with all procedures and approvals necessary for and applicable to said applications and license or permit. The City issued Appellant a "Wine and Beer Retailer*s Off-Premise Permit" for Location B on or about January 11, 2000, which indicated that the City was certifying Appellant*s application for a permit for Location B. R 249/3-6, 66 (JB Depo 45:20 through 46:7), 100, 115 (JR Depo 51:1-8), 118 (JR Depo 62:14-16); R 251; R 297/2 (JB Aff * 5)
In reliance upon the granting of this permit, Appellant purchased the property at Location B for the sum of $100,000 on January 12, 2000. R 249/72 (JB Depo 70:6-15), 283; R 251.
In preparation for the move, on January 4, 1998 and January 29, 1998, Appellant had mailed Ramsey two letters (R 297/4-7) and placed several telephone calls to Ramsey in an attempt to ascertain whether it would be possible to obtain a beer and wine permit at Location B. Ramsey did not respond to the letters or the calls. R 249/79-80 (JB Depo 100:5 through 101:14); R 297/2 (JB Aff * 3). Thereafter in 1998, at Appellant*s request, Winston Smith ("Smith"), an employee of Appellant, began calling the City in an attempt to determine whether it would be possible to obtain a permit at Location B. R 249/80 (JB Depo 102:3-6). Smith was told by Rounsavall in early 1998 that the issuance of a permit at Location B would not violate any City ordinances. R 249/79-80 (JB Depo 98:24 through 99:1-5); R 251-252.
Although Appellant had heard that it was not possible to sell beer and wine from location B, Rounsavall*s statement to Smith coupled with the grant of Appellant*s application for a Wine and Beer Retailer*s Off-Premise Permit by the City assured him it was permissible to do so. R 249/58 (JB Depo 13:18 through 14:15), 66 (JB Depo 46:5 through 50:13); R 252; R 297/2 (JB Aff * 6).
In late January 2000, Lawson made numerous trips to Location A and asked Smith various questions about Appellant*s move. R 249/158 (GL 31:14-24). Lawson insisted that Appellant would not be able to obtain a permit at Location B and stated that if Appellant tried, he would be "the first one up there to fight it" and that he would "fight it as hard as he can." R 249/62 (JB Depo 30:1-14). In an effort to prevent Appellant from obtaining a permit, Lawson told Ramsey that "they may be setting theirself up for a lawsuit" because "that building had been turned down before." R 249/159 (GL Depo 33:5-7) Lawson did not want Appellant to have a license there because he did not want any competition right next door. R 249/159-160 (GL Depo 36:13 through 37:3); R 252.
After learning that the City had certified Appellant*s permit, Lawson went to the offices of both Rounsavall and Ramsey to complain of the approval and certification because he wanted his premises, Location A, to be the only seller of beer and wine in the area. R 249/3-6, 109 (JR Depo 28:3-25), 110 (JR Depo 29:6 through 31:1), 115 (JR Depo 51:9-25), 125 (JR Depo 91:16-18), 158 (GL Depo 31:17 through 32:25), 158-159 (GL 32:4 through 34:17), 160 (GL Depo 40:22:25), 208 (MGR Depo 65:12:21, 232 (MRG Depo 162:7-25, 233 (MGR Depo 163:1-6). Lawson also visited Tim Maloney, local TABC agent in Terrell, and asked him if Appellant had applied for a license. R 249/158-159 (GL Depo 32:23 through 36:2). Lawson told Rounsavall, Ramsey and Maloney that Appellant "shouldn*t have a license" because he thought Location B "was previously turned down for a license." R 249/158-159. Lawson complained about Appellant*s permit because he did not want competition for his building. R 249/158-159 (GL Depo 36:13 through 37:3); R 252-253.
Once Lawson complained of the approval and certification, Defendants began to take action to prevent Appellant from obtaining the permit. R 253.
Rounsavall stated that he determined that the City*s certification of Appellant*s application for a permit for Location B had been issued in error because he thought that a new address number had been assigned to Location A, which he states occasionally occurs when additional numbers are added to a street. He stated that he took necessary actions to protest Appellant*s application "pending a determination of whether selling beer and wine out of location B would be in violation of the City*s ordinances" because he was "under the impression that one could not sell beer and wine from Location B." R 249/126 (JR Depo 93:4 through 96:15); R 253.
There is nothing to suggest or lead anyone to believe that Appellant*s application for a beer and wine permit was a "change of address. " This version of the City*s position came to light after the lawsuit was filed as an attempt to justify the Defendants* true intentions. R 253; R 297/20 (MW Aff * 2)
Instead of following TABC procedures and protesting the application based upon a valid statute or ordinance, Defendants asked Maloney to hold the application without notification to Appellant. R 249/73 (JB 73:4-8); R 297/2 (JB Aff * 7).
On February 8, 2000, Appellant met with Maloney and told him that he wanted to obtain the permit as soon as possible. Maloney told Appellant to deliver him a stamped "overnight" envelope, and he would send the application to Austin that day. Appellant delivered such an envelope to Maloney that day. R 249/72 (JB Depo 72:16-25); R 254.
When he had not received a permit by February 24, 2000, Appellant contacted the service that had filed the application on his behalf and was told that the application had never been forwarded to the TABC in Austin. Appellant then called several state officials and requested help in locating the application. An employee of State Senator David Cain*s office told Appellant that the application was being held up by Ramsey because of a "proximity issue." R 249/69 (JB Depo 57:9 through 58:2); R 254.
After realizing his permit was being delayed, Appellant visited Ramsey, Rounsavall and Maloney to determine the reasons for the delay. On March 1, 2000, Rounsavall told Appellant that a school owned an athletic field was near Location B (and Location A) and gave Appellant a copy of a city ordinance. R 249/69-72 (JB Depo 60:1 through 67:3); R 254.
Appellant next visited Maloney, who said the City had told him to hold the application. Maloney would not tell Appellant who called him or when they called. R 249/73 (JB Depo 73:4-11), 74 (JB Depo 77:16-20); R 255
Appellant made an appointment to see the city manager but the city manager canceled the meeting and told Appellant to discuss the issue with Ramsey. R 249/70 (JB Depo 62:11-22); R 255.
Appellant met with Ramsey and was told that there were some issues she would need to look at and that she would probably contact Appellant the next week. R 249/73 (JB Depo 73:16-18). Appellant gave Ramsey copies of the city ordinances, the permit the City had issued Appellant, and Appellant*s contract with George Calvert, from whom he had purchased Location B. Ramsey told Appellant that Location B was not eligible for a permit to sell beer and wine because it was located within 1,000 feet of an athletic field and a day care facility. R 249/73 (JB Depo 73:18-21). No disagreements with Lawson, rent, or locations other than Location A and Location B were discussed at this meeting. When asked by Appellant, Ramsey denied having talked to Lawson about the situation. R 249/70 (JB Depo 64:8 through 65:17); R 255; R 297/3.
On or about March 3, 2000, Appellant hired the law firm of Nacol, Wortham and Associates, P.C. to help him obtain a permit. R 249/174 (MW Depo 14:20 through 15:2) Michael P. Wortham ("Wortham") of Nacol, Wortham and Associates, P.C. wrote Ramsey on March 3, 2000 informing her that the position of the City, as she had represented to Appellant, was without merit and that there was no basis for the City*s request that Maloney hold Appellant*s application. R 249/175 (MW Depo 17:1-4)) The letter stated that the City ordinance did not mention day care centers and, as a result, the presence of day care centers such as The Children*s Depot Learning Center and Our Kid*s Tree House Child Care could not form a basis for a protest of Appellant*s application; that the ordinance did not mention athletic facilities and athletic facilities such as the park mentioned by Defendants are not schools and could not form a basis for a protest; that there was no public school within 1,000 feet of the subject location; and that Terrell Christian Academy, a private school in the area, was not a public school. R 255-256; R 297/21 (MW Aff * 4).
The letter also requested that Ramsey inform Wortham of her position on the matter as soon as possible because Appellant desired to begin selling beer and wine at location B on March 7, 2000 and could not do so without the permit. R 249/176 (MW Depo 23:14-23); R 256; R 297/21 (MW Aff * 4).
Ramsey did not respond to the letter and after several days Wortham began attempting to contact her and Maloney by telephone. Ramsey was difficult to reach during this time as she rarely took or returned calls. After not taking or returning his call for several days, Ramsey finally took a telephone call from Wortham. Initially, Ramsey would not communicate a reason for her opposition to the grant of Appellant*s permit or the authority for such opposition, but stated that city employees needed to measure the distance between Location B and a day care center, school and park in the area before the City would consider certifying the application. R 249/175 (MW Depo 18:13-19), 177 (MW Depo 25:17-25), 180 (MW Depo 37:21-38); R 256; R 297/21 (MW Aff * 5-6).
The measurements and the City*s actions on the matter were delayed several times for various reasons, including Ramsey*s vacations and illnesses. Ramsey avoided Appellant*s counsel and made up a variety of excuses to keep from discussing the City*s protest or the reasons therefore or resolving the issues involved. R 249/180 (MW Depo 37:15 through 38:14); R 297/22. (MW Aff * 7). Maloney would not give Wortham a reason for his refusal to forward the application to the TABC in Austin other than the fact that he had been requested to hold the application in order to allow the City to "protest" the permit. He would rarely talk to Wortham and would not ever state a valid reason to forward the application to Austin for processing. R 249/181 (MW Depo 43:23 through 44:14); R 257; R 297/22 (MW Aff * 8).
On March 9, 2000, Appellant was informed by the City building inspector*s office that the inspection previously scheduled for Location B necessary for Appellant to obtain a certificate of occupancy had been "put on hold" but was not given a reason for same. On March 10, 2000, Will Cole, building inspector for the City, told Appellant that he had been instructed by Ramsey not to inspect Location B or grant a certificate of occupancy. After numerous telephone calls from Wortham to Ramsey, none which were taken or returned, and several discussions between Appellant and Cole, the certificate of occupancy was finally granted the next week. R 249/75-76 (JB Depo 82:7 through 86:24); R 257-258; R 297/22 (MW Aff * 9).
Lawson procured a tenant for Location A. R 249/161 (GL Depo 41:14 through 42:4). On or about March 14, 2000, Lawson*s attorney submitted a letter to Ramsey stating that the premises at Location A had been "grandfathered" to receiving a Beer and Wine Permit and the City*s certification for said permit. R 249/1-2, 24, 218 (MGR Depo 106:19-22), 279; R 258.
The Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code provides "[i]f at the time an original alcoholic beverage permit or license is granted for a premises the premises satisfied the requirement regarding distance from schools, churches and other types of premises established in this code and any other law or ordinance of the state or a political subdivision of this state in effect at that time, the premises shall be deemed to satisfy the distance requirements for all subsequent renewals of the license or permit." See Tex. Alco. Bev. Code *109.59(a). Moreover, the code provides "[o]n the sale or transfer of the premises or the business on the premises in which a new original license or permit is required for the premises, the premises shall be deemed to satisfy any distance requirements as if the issuance of the new original permit or license were a renewal of a previously held permit or license." See Tex. Alco. Bev. Code *109.59(b)(emphasis added). R 258.
It is Defendants* position that because Lawson*s tenants moved into Location A, where Appellant held a beer and wine permit for many years, their application satisfied the relevant distance requirements pursuant to the above statutes and that Location A was "grandfathered" into receiving a permit and certification from the City and the City and Rounsavall certified the Rodriguez* application for Location A based on the "grandfather" clause. R 249/114 (JR Depo 46:25 through 48:23); 225 (MGR Depo 132:8 through 133:8); R 258.
On April 14, 2000, Lawson*s tenants obtained a Beer and Wine Permit for Location A. R 249/145 (HR Depo 13:8-9); R 259.
On or about March 14, 2000, Rounsavall notified Appellant via letter that the City was protesting Appellant*s application for a permit. No reason was given for the "protest." Rounsavall stated that the "protest is being filed pending our determination of compliance with our ordinance in regard to the location that is specified in the application" in regard to Location B. R 249/3-6, 118-119 (JR Depo 62:3-6, 62:20 through 63:9), 251; R 259.
On or about March 15, 2000, Appellant ceased operating from Location A and began operating from Location B. R 249/62 (JB Depo 32:6-10); R 259.
On or about March 15, 2000, Appellant filed an Original Petition for Declaratory Judgment and Injunction, Cause No. 56540, seeking that the Court enjoin the City and its agents from: (a) attempting to enforce Ordinance 1939 of the City against Appellant at Location B; (b) continuing to withhold its certification of Appellant*s application for a permit; and (c) causing Maloney to deliver the applications and approvals to the TABC for final approval. R 249/7-9, 10-37, 177 (MW Depo 26:2-5, and 27:20-22); R 259-260.
In her deposition Ramsey testified that she ceased handling the case and Jason Marshall began representing the City on March 15, 2000. R 249/243 (MGR 203:4 through 204:24). However, Ramsey*s role remained the same and she continued representing the City until May 31, 2000, as evidenced in her continued communications with Wortham and by the facsimile dated May 2, 2000 letter from Peter Smith of Nichols, Jackson, Dillard, Hager & Smith, L.L.P. to Wortham stating that his firm does not represent the City and to continue dealing with Ramsey. Ramsey never stated to Wortham that she was not representing the City until the May 31, 2000 hearing when Marshall entered the case. R 249/183 (MW Depo 49:11-21); R 261; R 297/22-23 (MW Aff * 10).
On or about March 15, 2000, Wortham sent an open records request to Rounsavall. Wortham did not have access to the City Ordinances of Terrell, and asked Ramsey if she would send them but she refused to do so and suggested that he make an open records request. R 249/178 (MW Depo 29:5-19, 30:5-11, 31:4-20); R 261; R 297/23.
On or about March 17, 2000, Ramsey submitted a letter to Wortham stating that the reason for the City*s protest of Appellant*s application was that Location B "appears to be in violation of the City Ordinance and State Law in that the location is within 1,000 feet of an educational institution, namely Terrell Christian Academy." R 249/1-2, 178 (MW Depo 31:21 through 32:6), 202-203 (MGR Depo 44:15 through 45:1), 207 (MGR Depo 63:24 through 64:5), 210 (MGR Depo 73:7 through 74:2), 238 (MGR Depo 183:13-15), 252; R 261; R 297/23 (MW Aff * 11).
On or about March 17, 2000, Wortham submitted a letter to Ramsey attempting to ascertain the statute or ordinance relied upon in her March 17, 2000 letter, resolve the dispute between Appellant and the City and to gain Ramsey*s cooperation with regard several aspects regarding the lawsuit. The letter also contained information to support the fact that Appellant*s business derived less than 50 percent of its gross receipts from the sale of alcoholic beverages; gave Ramsey the opportunity to review records supporting same and explained that the 1,000 foot restriction in the state statute was inapplicable to Appellant as a result. The letter also stated that pursuant to Section 109.33(a) of the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code cities "may enact regulations" governing the sale of alcohol within parameters set out in the statute; that this statute merely enabled cities to govern the sale of alcohol if the cities so desire and sets up guidelines for the cities to follow in such regulation and that the statute does not purport to set up the regulations itself; that pursuant to Section 109.57 of the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code cities may not be more restrictive than the state in regulating the sale of alcoholic beverages or attempt to regulate the sale of alcohol in a manner not stated in the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code; that Ordinance No. 1939 attempts to regulate the sale of alcohol in a manner not provided for by the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code and is more restrictive than the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code. All of these facts were confirmed in a telephone conversation between Wortham, Ramsey and Dewey Bracken, an attorney for the TABC. R 249/178 (MW Depo 32:7-10), 180 (MW Depo 39:24 through 43:3), 239 (MGR Depo 190:2 through 191:14; R 262; R 297/23 (MW Aff * 23).
Ramsey did not respond to the letter in writing but Wortham continued to attempt to contact her and discuss the matter with her. On or about March 21, 2000, Wortham sent Ramsey a letter outlining Appellant*s sales and the percentage of said sales which were derived from beer and wine sales. R 249/117 (JR Depo 59:25 through 60:12), 182 (MW Depo 47:6-9, 48:1-20), 202 (MGR Depo 43:7-14), 213 (MGR Depo 87:7-15), 257; R 262-263; R 297/23 (MW Aff * 12).
In a telephone conversation with Wortham or on about March 21, 2000, Ramsey stopped asserting the validity of Ordinance 1939 and began asserting that the City was protesting Appellant*s application based upon an ordinance that prohibited the sale of alcoholic beverages in residential sections of the City even though Location B was in an area of the City zoned retail and not affected by the ordinance. R 249/183 (MW Depo 51:1-14), 266. She cited Chapter 5, Section 2D of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Terrell to Wortham and partially read it to him over the telephone and then transmitted it to him via facsimile on March 21, 2000. The ordinance reads as follows:
D. SALE IN RESIDENTIAL AREAS IS PROHIBITED
The sale of alcoholic beverages, beer, and wine is prohibited within the residential sections of the city. For the purpose of this subsection, and as a matter of definition, all of the city lying within the corporate limits thereof shall be construed and is hereby designated as residential sections of the city, save and except those areas designated by the zoning ordinance, and amendments thereto, as commercial district (C), central area district (CA), retail district (R), light industrial district (LI), and heavy industrial district (HI). No store for the purpose of the sale of alcoholic beverages, wine, or beer will be located in any area of the city designated as residential. (Sec. 4-3, 1968 Code of Ordinances) 

R 263; R 297/23 (MW Aff * 13). 

After receiving and reviewing the ordinance, Wortham attempted to contact Ramsey but she would not take his telephone call. As a result, on or about March 23, 2000, after determining that Location B was zoned "Retail," Wortham sent a letter to Ramsey which stated that although the ordinance prohibits the sale of alcoholic beverages in residential sections of the City, Location B was in an area of the City zoned retail and not affected by the prohibition. R 249/183 (MW Depo 51:1-14), 266. She refused to change the City*s position with regard to this matter. R 263; R 297/23-24 (MW Aff * 14).
Without Appellant*s knowledge, on March 21, 2000, Rounsavall sent an "Affidavit" to the TABC stating, among other things, that "[t]he application for Handy Mart No. 1 submitted by Appellant does not comply with the ordinances of the City regarding the sale of alcoholic beverages in residential areas." Rounsavall was relying on Section 2(D) of Chapter 5 of the City ordinances. R 297/33-37. The City did not furnish a copy of the "Affidavit" to Appellant or his attorney. R 264; R 297/3 (MW Aff * 8), 24 (MW Aff * 15).
Sometime in late March, Maloney forwarded Appellant*s application to the TABC in Austin. As a result, the action initiated by Appellant against the City on March 15, 2000 was nonsuited. R 249/32,177 (MW Depo 26:2 through 27:21); R 264.
On April 10, 2000, Brian Guenthner, Licensing Department Director for the TABC, sent a letter to Appellant stating that Appellant*s application was incomplete and could not be approved due to the "the fact that the City has withdrawn their certification." R 144. The TABC took the position that the application would not be processed, granted or disapproved until the City certified whether the sale of alcoholic beverages at subject location was prohibited by a City ordinance pursuant to Section 11.37 of the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code as opposed to withdrawing its Certification.2 R 264; R 297/3 (JB Aff * 9), 19.
Defendants allege that on April 12, 2000, Rounsavall submitted a letter to Maloney in Terrell outlining the reasons for the protest of Appellant*s application. More specifically, Rousavall explained that "the proposed establishment will be located within one thousand feet (1,000') of a public school or other educational institution located in a residential area." R 249/3-6, 101. A copy of this letter was not provided to Appellant until after this lawsuit was filed. R 265; R 297/3 (JB Aff * 10), 24 (MW Aff * 18).
Upon receipt of the April 10, 2000 letter from Guenthner, Wortham contacted Guenthner by telephone and Guenther stated that he had received the March 21, 2000 "Affidavit"from Rounsavall and reiterated the position set out in his April 10, 2000 letter. No mention was ever made by Guenthner to Wortham of the April 12, 2000, letter from Rounsavall to Maloney. Wortham asked for a copy of the March 21, 2000 "Affidavit" and was told by Guenthner to request same in writing. On April 18, 2000, Wortham sent Guenther a facsimile requesting all documentation in the possession of the TABC regarding Appellant, including the March 21, 2000 "Affidavit." R 265; R 297/24 (MW Aff * 17-18).
On or about April 26, 2000 Guenthner sent Wortham the TABC file regarding Appellant*s application. The April 12, 2000 letter was not a part of that file. R 265; R 297/25 (MW Aff * 17).
After receipt of the letter from Guenthner containing the TABC file and the March 21, 2000 "Affidavit," on May 2, 2000, Wortham sent a letter to Ramsey stating that he had become aware of the March 21, 2000 "Affidavit" and that the position set out in the "Affidavit" was the last position that had been relayed from Ramsey to him and once again outlined Appellant*s position that the City should certify Appellant*s application. R 249/185 (MW Depo 58:9-19), 271; R 297/25 (MW Aff * 18). Wortham also sent a copy of the same letter to Peter Smith, who responded that same day telling Wortham that his firm did not represent the City and to continue dealing with Ramsey. R 249/7-9, 33-53, 177; R 265-266; R 297/22 (MW Aff * 10).
As a result of the position taken by the City in Mr. Rounsavall*s "Affidavit" and Ramsey*s failure to communicate with Wortham, on May 5, 2000, Appellant filed an Original Petition for Writ of Mandamus, Cause No. 56794, seeking, inter alia, that the Court issue a writ of mandamus requiring the City and Rounsavall to certify the Appellant*s application. R 249/185 (MW Depo 58:9-19); R 271; R 266.
On the day of the hearing on the petition, May 31, 2000, the City filed Defendants* Original Answer and Plea to the Jurisdiction, which stated that "Appellant*s establishment is not in compliance with City Ordinances limiting the sale of alcoholic beverages within 1,000 feet of a public school or other educational institution. . . " The City asserted that it was not relying on Chapter 5, Section 2D, but on ordinance 1939 because the subject location was within 1,000 feet of a private school. As a result, the hearing was canceled. At the hearing, Jason Marshall stated to the Court that he had been retained to represent the City on May 30, 2000. After this date, Defendants began looking for a way that Appellant could be granted his permit in a manner that would allow Defendants to "save face." R 266-267; R 297/25 (MW Aff * 20).
Appellant then filed Relator*s Second Amended Original Petition for Declaratory Judgment, Injunction and Writ of Mandamus which was set for hearing on June 27, 2000. R 267; R 297/25 (MW Aff * 20).
On or about June 15, 2000, Marshall submitted a letter to the TABC articulating the City*s position that the TABC should grant Appellant*s application for a permit over the City*s objection. R 249/7-9, 273. The City refused to withdraw its objection. R 267; R 297/26 (MW Aff * 21).
On or about June 28, 2000, the Court dismissed Appellant*s case. R 249/7-9, 54. Lawson, Cole, Ramsey, and Maloney all appeared at one or both of the hearings and socialized before the hearings began. R 249/64 (JB Depo 119:12-25), 166 (GL Depo 62:13-18). Lawson testified in his deposition that he did not know Cole, but socialized with him as stated above. R 267; R 297/26 (MW Aff * 22).
On or about July 27, 2000, Rounsavall submitted a letter to the TABC withdrawing the City*s protest of Appellant*s application, explaining that "[t]he applicant has provided information to the Attorney representing the City of Terrell in this case to certify that while the proposed premises will be within 1000 feet of a public school, based upon information provided by the Applicant, less than 50% of the gross sales, excluding gasoline sales, will be from the sale of beer and wine, making the City*s 1000 foot distance requirement in applicable." R 249/3-6, 72 (JB Depo 71:3-6), 86 (JB Depo 125:20 through 126:7), 102, 121 (JR Depo 74:9-18), 122 (JR Depo 79:11-15), 130 (JR Depo 111:21 through 112:7), 277. The information referred to by Rounsavall had been provided and/or made available to the City beginning in March 2000. At any time between early March, when Defendants became aware of this information, and July 27, 2001, Defendants could have withdrawn the protest or otherwise stopped blocking the application for these reasons. In August 2000, Appellant obtained certification and a Beer and Wine Permit for Location B. R 249/60 (JB Depo 24:11-25), 71 (JB Depo 68:22-25), 86 (JB Depo 126:16-19; R 297/26 (MW Aff * 23). However, as a result of the conduct of Appellees, Appellant was forced to sell the store due to lost profits and ruined product. R 267-268.
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS
The trial court erred in ruling that "an illegitimate animus or ill-will" must be
proven in order to sustain a cause of action for a violation of the equal protection clause if plaintiff has been intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated and that no rational basis existed for such treatment. The Supreme Court of the United States does not require that a plaintiff must allege "an illegitimate animus or ill-will motivated his intentionally different treatment from others similarly situated and that no rational basis existed for such treatment." 
The evidence supports the fact that Defendants* actions in intentionally treating Appellant differently from others similarly situated and opposing Appellant*s certification were motivated by "an illegitimate animus or ill-will."
The trial court erred in holding that no fact issue exists regarding whether Appellant and his neighbor were "similarly situated." Both businesses were convenience stores located next door to each other that sold the same basic items. R 268.
The trial court erred in holding that no fact issue exists regarding the existence of an unconstitutional policy or custom in the City of Terrell. Defendants took a course of action specifically tailored to deny Appellant a license. The decision to adopt this particular course of action was made by Ramsey, a decision maker "'whose acts or edicts may fairly be said to represent official policy' " and whose decisions may therefore give rise to municipal liability. R 289.
The trial court erred in holding that the actions of Ramsey did not warrant the imposition of punitive damages. As set out herein, the conduct of Appellees was "motivated by evil intent" or demonstrates "reckless or callous indifference" to a person*s constitutional rights. R 295. 

 

ARGUMENT 
ISSUE ONE RESTATED: The trial court erred in ruling that "an illegitimate animus or ill-will" must be proven in order to sustain a cause of action for a violation of the equal protection clause if plaintiff has been intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated and no rational basis existed for such treatment. R 276.
A. Standard of Review
The standard of review of a summary judgment at the appellate level is de novo. Horton v. City of Houston, 179 F.3d 188 (5th Cir. 1999).B. Arguments and Authorities
In Village of Willowbrook, et al. v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (200), the United States Supreme Court held that the Equal Protection Clause gives rise to a cause of action on behalf of a "class of one" even when the plaintiff does not allege membership in a protected class or group if the plaintiff has been intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated and there is no rational basis for this difference in treatment. The Supreme Court set out no requirement that a plaintiff must allege "an illegitimate animus or ill-will motivated his intentionally different treatment from others similarly situated and that no rational basis existed for such treatment." R 276.
The Supreme Court stated that "the purpose of the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is to secure every person within the State*s jurisdiction against intentional and arbitrary discrimination, whether occasioned by express terms of a statute or by its improper execution through duly constituted agents." (R 276)
In Olech, the plaintiff alleged that the defendant had intentionally demanded a 33-foot easement as a condition of connecting the plaintiff*s property to the municipal water supply when it required only a 15-foot easement from other similarly situated property owners; that this demand was "irrational and wholly arbitrary" and that the Village ultimately connected the plaintiff*s property after receiving a clearly adequate 15-foot easement. R 276.
In our case, the City protested Appellant*s application despite having no basis to do so and approved the application of Appellant*s neighbor to receive a permit. The Defendant*s conduct in doing so was "irrational and wholly arbitrary." The City ultimately withdrew its protest after determining that it should not have protested initially. R 277. 
The Supreme Court held that the allegations in Olech, "quite apart from the Village*s subjective motivation, are sufficient to state a claim for relief under traditional equal protection analysis. We therefore affirm the judgment of the Court of Appeals, but do not reach the alternative theory of *subjective ill will* relied on by that court." 3 R 276.
As a result, Appellant should be able to prosecute his claim without proving "ill-will" or "illegitimate animus motivated" the Defendants. 
ISSUE TWO RESTATED: Defendants* actions in intentionally treating Appellant differently from others similarly situated and opposing Appellant*s certification were motivated by "an illegitimate animus or ill-will."
A. Standard of Review
The standard of review of a summary judgment at the appellate level is de novo. Horton v. City of Houston, 179 F.3d 188 (5th Cir. 1999).
B. Arguments and Authorities 
Based on the ruling of the Supreme Court in Olech, it is not necessary to prove that an illegitimate animus or ill-will motivated the Defendant*s conduct. However, Shipp v. McMahon, 234 F.3d 907 (5th Cir. 2000), this court held that a single plaintiff must allege that an illegitimate animus or ill-will motivated his intentionally different treatment from others similarly situated and that no rational basis existed for such treatment. Such animus may be shown directly or inferred from circumstantial evidence. Hill v. Mississippi State Employment Service, 918 F.2d 1233, 1238 (5th Cir.1990). The Defendants deliberately sought to deprive Appellant of his permit and equal protection of the laws for reasons of a personal nature and took a variety of actions to prevent Appellant from obtaining a permit even though the actions were not supported by law or fact. R 277.
The acts of Defendants as set out in the Statement of Facts, including those below, support the fact that an illegitimate animus or ill-will motivated Defendants:
1) Ramsey adopted a variety of meritless positions to support the City*s protest of Appellant*s license, ignoring the law and facts. 
2) Each time Ramsey received an explanation as to why her position was meritless she changed positions, adopting a new position and basis therefore. 
3) Instead of following recognized procedures, Defendants secretly requested Maloney to "hold" Appellant*s application. 
4) Ramsey would not take or return Wortham*s telephone calls, and gave a variety of excuses to avoid dealing with the case, including vacations, dealing with her children and the fact that the case was not a priority with her. 
5) Once Marshall began representing the City, the City began looking for a manner in which Appellant could be granted the license while the City "saved face."
6) The City opposed Appellant only after approached by Lawson; Rounsavall*s story regarding the change of address is implausible.
7) The City withdrew its protest in late July for reasons it was aware of in March. 
8) Lawson did not like Appellant because Appellant terminated his lease with him and had a dispute with him regarding Appellant*s alleged violation of the provisions of his lease agreement. 
9) Defendants knew Appellant would be in serious financial trouble without the permit. 
10) Appellant was from Missouri and lived in Dallas; Lawson lived in Terrell and has known Ramsey for most of her life.
11) The same ordinances and statutes should have been applied uniformly to Appellant in Location B and Lawson*s tenant in Location A. 
12) Defendants used the "grandfather clause" position to help Lawson*s tenant get permit. 
13) The City recognized state laws when convenient (using the grandfather clause as an excuse to grant Location A a license and exempting Appellant on July 27) and did not recognize state laws when convenient. (Ordinance 1939 not affected by state laws) 
14) Ramsey responded to Mallard but not to Wortham.
15) A copy of Rounsavall*s April 12 letter to the TABC was not provided to Appellant until after the litigation began.
R 282-283.
The fact that Lawson stated that he did not request the City to delay or protest Appellant*s application does not mean that it did not occur. Lawson made numerous statements regarding the fact that he was going to "fight" Appellant over the permit and he attended each hearing involving Appellant in late February 2000. R 278.
The fact that Defendants had met Appellant only a few times does not mean that ill will did not exist. R 282.
Defendants took the actions described herein for one reason only -- to keep Appellant from obtaining a permit. There was no rational basis for their actions. R 286.
ISSUE THREE RESTATED: The trial court erred in holding that no fact issue exists regarding whether Appellant and his neighbor were "similarly situated."
A. Standard of Review
The standard of review of a summary judgment at the appellate level is de novo. Horton v. City of Houston, 179 F.3d 188 (5th Cir. 1999). 

B. Arguments and Authorities
The trial court held that Appellant, doing business from Location B, was not "similarly situated" as the tenants doing business from Location A. Both businesses were convenience stores located next door to each other that sold the same basic items. R 268.
The Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code provides "[i]f at the time an original alcoholic beverage permit or license is granted for a premises the premises satisfied the requirement regarding distance from schools, churches and other types of premises established in this code and any other law or ordinance of the state or a political subdivision of this state in effect at that time, the premises shall be deemed to satisfy the distance requirements for all subsequent renewals of the license or permit." See Tex. Alco. Bev. Code *109.59(a). Moreover, the code provides "[o]n the sale or transfer of the premises or the business on the premises in which a new original license or permit is required for the premises, the premises shall be deemed to satisfy any distance requirements as if the issuance of the new original permit or license were a renewal of a previously held permit or license." See Tex. Alco. Bev. Code *109.59(b)(emphasis added). 
The Defendants alleged and the district court found that Appellant and his neighbor, Lawson*s tenant, were not "similarly situated" because Lawson*s new tenants* application satisfied the relevant distance requirements pursuant to the statutes referenced above.
In order to satisfy the requirements in the statute, the premises or business in question must be transferred or sold. In this instance, the business or premises were not transferred. Appellant relocated his business and terminated his lease with Lawson. The premises was not transferred to the new tenants; they leased it from Lawson. For the "grandfather clause" to apply to Lawson*s tenants, they would have had to have purchased Appellant*s business or the premises where the business is located would have to be sold or transferred while the business is in operation at the premises. 
The "grandfather" clause does not apply. The two businesses, next door to each other, are almost identical and certainly "similarly situated."
ISSUE FOUR RESTATED: The trial court erred in holding that no fact issue exists regarding the existence of an unconstitutional policy or custom in the City of Terrell as required under 42 U.S.C. * 1983.
A. Standard of Review 
The standard of review of a summary judgment at the appellate level is de novo. Horton v. City of Houston, 179 F.3d 188 (5th Cir. 1999). 

B. Argument and Authorities
The court held that Appellant failed to produce evidence of an official custom or policy of the City which caused the Appellant*s constitutional deprivation.
As set out in Monell v. Department of Social Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 690, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 56 L.Ed.2d 611 (1978), in a suit brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C * 1983, the action that is alleged to be unconstitutional must implement or execute a policy statement, ordinance, regulation, or decision adopted and promulgated by the City. This Court has defined official policy or custom as a policy statement, ordinance, regulation, or decision that is officially adopted and promulgated by the municipality's lawmaking officers or by an official to whom the lawmakers have delegated policy-making authority. See Johnson v. Moore, 958 F.2d 92, 94 (5th Cir. 1992)(quoting Bennett v. City of Slidell, 735 F.2d 861, 862 (5th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 472 U.S. 1016, 105 S.Ct. 3476, 87 L.Ed. 612 (1985)). R 288.
The Supreme Court has identified two types of "policies" under which a municipality may be held liable. See Pembaur v. City of Cincinnati, 475 U.S. 469, 480-81, 106 S.Ct. 1292, 89 L.Ed.2d 452 (1986). One type of "policy" is characterized by formal rules and understandings which constitute fixed plans of action to be followed under similar circumstances consistently and over time. Another type of "policy" exists when a municipality takes a course of action tailored to a specific situation and not intended to control decisions in later situations. R 288-289.
Under the second type of "policy," a municipality can be liable if the decision to adopt that particular course of action is properly made by that government's authorized decision makers. Such "authorized decisionmakers" are defined as officials " 'whose acts or edicts may fairly be said to represent official policy' " and whose decisions may therefore give rise to municipal liability under * 1983. Id. at 480, 106 S.Ct. 1292 (quoting Monell, 436 U.S. at 694, 98 S.Ct. 2018). State law determines whether a particular individual is a final decisionmaker of a governmental entity with respect to a certain sphere of activity. Bennett v. Pippin, 74 F.3d 578, 586 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 817, 117 S.Ct. 68, 136 L.Ed.2d 29 (1996). R 289.
Defendants took a course of action specifically tailored to deny Appellant a license. The decision to adopt this particular course of action was made by Ramsey, a decision maker "'whose acts or edicts may fairly be said to represent official policy' " and whose decisions may therefore give rise to municipal liability under * 1983. Id. at 480, 106 S.Ct. 1292 (quoting Monell, 436 U.S. at 694, 98 S.Ct. 2018). Ramsey made all decisions in this matter regarding protesting Appellant*s application and had the power and ability to do so in her position as City Attorney. She was not obligated to and did not confer with anyone else in making this decision. This policy is evidenced by, among other things, Defendants* attempts to prevent Appellant from obtaining a license; their opposition to the application in bad faith with no basis for doing so; their use of inapplicable or unconstitutional ordinances to support their opposition, especially since they knew they the ordinances were unconstitutional or inapplicable; their failure to certify the application as required by state law; delivery of the "Affidavit" by Rounsavall to the TABC; and their influencing Maloney to hold Appellant*s application as opposed to delivering it for processing. R 289-290.
Further, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that a cause of action under * 1983 based on a single decision attributable to a municipality lies. Owen v. Independence, 445 U.S. 622, 100 S.Ct. 1398, 63 L.Ed.2d 673 (1980); Newport v. Fact Concerts, Inc., 453 U.S. 247, 101 S.Ct. 2748, 69 L.Ed.2d 616*406 (1981). "Municipality liability under * 1983 attaches where--and only where--a deliberate choice to follow a course of action is made from among various alternatives by the official or officials responsible for establishing final policy with respect to the subject matter in question." Pembauer, 475 U.S. at 483-84, 106 S.Ct. at 1300. Where the direct action of the policymaker, rather than the conduct of subordinates, is involved, the municipality has itself acted. R 290.
In Pembaur, a county prosecutor directed county deputies to forcibly enter a doctor*s office to serve capiases upon third parties which resulted in the deprivation of petitioner's rights. The conclusion that the decision was that of a final municipal decisionmaker and was therefore properly attributable to the municipality established municipal liability. Rounsavall and Ramsey both directed actions that resulted in the deprivation of Appellant*s constitutional rights. R 290-291.
ISSUE FIVE RESTATED: The trial court erred in holding that the actions of Ramsey and Rounsavall did not warrant the imposition of punitive damages.
A. Standard of Review
The standard of review of a summary judgment at the appellate level is de novo. Horton v. City of Houston, 179 F.3d 188 (5th Cir. 1999).
B. Argument and Authorities
The court held that the actions of Rounsavall and Ramsey did not warrant the imposition of punitive damages. Appellees state that under * 1983, punitive damages may be awarded only if the official conduct is "motivated by evil intent" or demonstrates "reckless or callous indifference" to a person*s constitutional rights. Sockwell v. Phelps, 20 F.3d 187, 192 (5th Cir. 1994)(citing Smith v. Wase, 461 U.S. 30, 103 S.Ct. 1625, 1640, 75 L.Ed.2d 632 (1983)). As set out above, the conduct of the Defendants was "motivated by evil intent" or demonstrates "reckless or callous indifference" to a person*s constitutional rights. R 295.  

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully requests that this court reverse the district court*s order granting Appellee*s summary judgment entered herein and remand the case to the trial court for a new trial. 
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